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profiles… .  The Dasan and Siefert patents disclose the use of user profiles.  Therefore, 

they are material pieces of prior art.”  Mossinghoff report at ¶ 18.    

41. In respect of the Dasan and Siefert patents, I reviewed the prosecution 

history of the Geller patent and reviewed the Dasan and Siefert patents in relation to the 

prior art of record in the Geller patent and the claims that were considered by the 

Examiner.  The Dasan and Siefert patents appear merely cumulative to information that 

was considered by the Examiner in the prosecution of the Geller patent.  My opinions in 

respect of the materiality of these references are informed by the opinions of PA’s 

technical expert, Thomas Rhyne.  Mr. Rhyne is of the opinion that the Dasan and Siefert 

patents are merely cumulative to information that was considered by the Examiner in the 

prosecution of the Geller patent.   

42. The “user profile” allegedly taught by the Dasan and Siefert patents is, in 

fact, taught by the Hoffberg patent that was of record and considered by the Examiner in 

the prosecution of the Geller patent.  Hence, in respect of this feature, the Dasan and 

Siefert patents are merely cumulative of the prior art considered by the Examiner in the 

prosecution of the Geller patent.  Information that is merely cumulative of information 

already of record in an application is not material for purposes of determining whether 

there occurred a violation of Rule 56 or inequitable conduct. 

43. In further support of and consistent with Mr. Rhyne’s opinion that the 

Dasan and Siefert patents are not material to the prosecution of the Geller patent is the 

prosecution history of the PCT application.  In the International Preliminary Examination 

Report dated October 9, 2000, the PCT Examiner issued a report stating the following:  
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	EXPERT REPORT OF ALAN H. GORDON
	INTRODUCTION
	1. I have been engaged by counsel for the plaintiff, PA ADVISORS, LLC, (hereinafter sometimes referred to as “PA”) as an expert witness in the above-captioned action.  I have been asked to review the prosecution history and conduct relating to patent application for U.S. Patent No. 6,199,067 to Ilya Geller (“the Geller patent”), the parent provisional application No. 60/116,582, filed January 20, 1999, for the Geller patent (“the provisional”), and a foreign counterpart application PCT/US00/01373 (“the PCT application”).  This report sets forth my opinions in this matter based on the information available and the analysis I have performed through the date of this report.  This report, and my opinions contained herein, are subject to change or modification if additional relevant information become available that bears on my analysis.
	2. This report is submitted in rebuttal to the accusations related to inequitable conduct in respect of the prosecution of the Geller patent as set forth in Google’s counterclaim dated November 18, 2009, discovery responses regarding alleged violations of the duty of disclosure during the prosecution of the Geller patent, and the report of Gerald J. Mossinghoff.  My report also provides a basis for possible testimony in respect of the nature and purpose of patents and how patents are obtained, particularly, the Geller patent.  
	3. I reserve the right to supplement or amend this report pursuant to Rule 26(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure if additional information that affects my opinions becomes available. In particular, I understand that expert discovery is ongoing in this case, evidence continues to be analyzed, and new evidence may be uncovered.  I therefore may supplement or amend my report or opinions in response to new evidence uncovered by discovery and any new allegations made by the defendants.  I also reserve the right to supplement or amend my opinion if either party in this action asserts any additional claims.  I also understand that I may be asked at trial to express opinions regarding matters that are raised at trial.  I may use demonstrative exhibits, for example, a time line, to assist me during trial, and upon completion of same will provide a copy to counsel for PA Advisors for appropriate disclosure to counsel for defendants.  

	EXPERT QUALIFICATIONS
	4. I am an intellectual property attorney and have been in private practice for about thirty-eight (38) years.  My practice has focused on patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret law, intellectual property litigation, and intellectual property licensing.  I am licensed as a Patent Attorney in the United States, and a Certified Licensing Professional.  I received a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering from Columbia University in 1968.  I received a Juris Doctorate with honors from the George Washington University in 1971.  A copy of my resume, including a list of publications, is presented at Exhibit “A”.  In the preceding four (4) years I have testified as an expert at trial or by deposition in cases identified in Exhibit “B”.

	COMPENSATION
	5. My compensation for the time expended in study, drafting, and, if called upon, to testimony in this case is at my customary hourly rate of $595.  My payment is not contingent upon the outcome of the case or the substance of my opinions.

	DOCUMENTS REVIEWED AND FACTUAL BASES FOR OPINIONS 
	6. In preparation of this report and for expert testimony that I may be called upon to provide, I reviewed documents identified below or on attached Exhibit “C” to this expert report.  In summary, I reviewed documents including the Geller patent, its provisional, and the PCT application, their official prosecution file histories, copies of pleadings, certain discovery, publicly available information regarding the patented and accused subject matter and the parties, and third-party information.  Plaintiff PA has made available its technical experts whose opinions inform my own.  My report is based on the information identified herein, together with my education, training, and experience in the field of patent law and United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO” or “Patent Office”) practices, procedures and standards.

	BACKGROUND
	7. The following provides background information on relevant concepts and reflects some of my knowledge of USPTO practices, procedures, and standards.  I have been asked to explain, and I expect to testify about the USPTO practices, procedures, and standards that were followed when the applications were filed and prosecuted that lead to the issuance of the Geller patent.
	8. To prove a patent unenforceable due to inequitable conduct, a defendant must provide clear and convincing evidence that the applicant:  (1) made an affirmative misrepresentation of a material fact, failed to disclose material information, or submitted false material information; and (2) intended to deceive the USPTO.  
	9. Information is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable patent examiner would consider it important in deciding whether to allow a patent application to issue as a patent.  Information is material where:
	(a) It is not cumulative to information already of record or being made of record in the application, and
	(b) It establishes, by itself or in combination with other information, a prima facie case of unpatentability of a claim, or
	(c) It refutes, or is inconsistent with, a position the applicant  takes in: 
	(i) Opposing an argument of unpatentability relied on by the USPTO, or
	(ii) Asserting an argument of patentability.
	10. The intent requirement mandates a specific intent to deceive, rather than merely mistake, negligence, or even gross negligence.  Deceptive intent is not inferred simply because information was in existence that was not presented to the Examiner.  In the usual course of patent prosecution many choices are made by the applicant, recognizing the complexity of inventions, the virtually unlimited sources of information, and the burdens of patent examination.
	11. In the usual course of patent prosecution, the examiner gains an understanding of the invention disclosed and claimed in the patent application and then searches prior art as disclosed in patents and other published documents.  In order to establish the requisite intent to deceive to prove inequitable conduct, there must be clear and convincing evidence of “culpable” conduct.  An inference of deceptive intent drawn from indirect and circumstantial evidence must not only be based on sufficient evidence and be reasonable in light of that evidence, but it also must be the single most reasonable inference able to be drawn from the evidence to meet the clear and convincing standard.  Inferences from less than clear and convincing evidence cannot satisfy the deceptive intent requirement. 
	12. Subjective good faith is a factor to be considered.
	13. In the following opinions, I have been asked to apply the forgoing principles, as well as those set forth below, as they relate to the facts and circumstances in this case.



	OPINIONS
	14. Based on my review of all the information identified in this report, together with my education, training, and experience in the field of patent law and USPTO practices, procedures and standards, and consistent with the reasons set forth herein, it is my opinion that the allegations of inequitable conduct raised by the Defendants are not supportable.  Rather, the record is clear that there was no inequitable conduct committed during the prosecution of the Geller patent.

	THE PATENT
	15. I hold the opinions and may testify about the nature and purpose of patents as well as how patents are obtained as generally set forth in Exhibit D.  In addition, I hold the opinions and may testify more particularly about the process through which the Geller patent was examined and issued by the USPTO as generally set forth below.  
	Prosecution History Summary Related to the Geller Patent
	16. The following is a summary of the prosecution history of the Geller patent.  Inasmuch as what follows is intended to be a summary, not every paper filed, nor every issue raised, will be noted.  Rather, the following is intended to highlight some of the events that occurred during the prosecution of the Geller patent.  I have reviewed the entirety of the file history and relied on it in forming my opinion. I reserve the right to testify regarding the entirety of the file history of the Geller patent. 
	17. The application that issued as the Geller patent was filed October 21, 1999, as application serial No. 09/422,286 (sometimes “the ‘286 application” or “application for the Geller patent”) and claims priority from provisional application No. 60/116,582 filed January 20, 1999 (“the provisional”). 
	18. The application names as the sole inventor Ilya Geller.  
	19. The application relates generally to computer data searches and more particularly to a system and method for automatically generating personalized user profiles and for utilizing the generated profiles to perform adaptive Internet or computer data searches.
	20. The ‘286 application was filed by patent attorney Edward Etkin (“Etkin”) and contained 62 claims and a declaration and power of attorney signed October 18, 1999.  (Claims 61 and 62 were misnumbered as claims “62” and “63” respectively in the application as originally filed.)  The declaration in the ‘286 application claimed priority from the provisional.  In addition, a declaration claiming small entity status was signed on October 18, 1999, and was filed with the ‘286 application. 
	21. In early October 2000 the applicant’s attorney filed a change of address notice apparently filed as a result of an office move. 
	22. On October 21, 2000, the Examiner conducted a search of the files and records of the USPTO in respect of the patentability of the invention defined by the 62 claims as filed.
	23. On October 24, 2000, the USPTO mailed a first action notice of allowability that advised that all the pending claims were allowed and that prosecution on the merits is closed.  The Examiner stated in the October 24, 2000, action:  “After a search and thorough examination of the present application and in light of the prior art made of record, claims 1-62 are allowed.”  Notice of Allowability at 2.  In addition, the Examiner set forth reasons of allowance as follows:
	Notice of Allowability at 2-3.  
	24. In the October 24, 2000, office action, the Examiner attached a notice of references cited, form PTO-892, making of record certain prior art.  That notice of references cited identifies 10 United States patents and 3 non-patent publications.  The Examiner on the same day mailed a Notice of Allowance and Issue Fee Due, and following the timely payment by applicant of the issue fee, the ‘286 application issued on March 6, 2001, as the Geller patent.



	ACCUSATIONS OF OR RELATED TO INEQUITABLE CONDUCT
	25. The Geller patent is the subject of an inequitable conduct defense as raised by Defendants in this litigation.  Defendants bear the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence its accusations that inequitable conduct was committed by either the inventor or the prosecution attorney for the Geller patent.
	26. For inequitable conduct to exist, individuals involved in the filing or prosecution of a patent application must have known of the existence of the prior art or information.  Obviously, it is impossible to disclose the unknown.  Similarly, individuals involved in the filing or prosecution of a patent application must have known of the materiality of the prior art or information.
	27. In general, there is no duty to conduct a search of the prior art to learn of information that an individual might or could have been aware.  Even where a search has been conducted, an applicant is not obligated to disclose those search results where the search fails to turn up prior art as close as that cited by the Examiner.  Individuals are not required to pursue a fishing expedition to obtain information.  Generally, there is no duty to inquire into the content of the prior art unless an individual is on notice of the likelihood that specific, material information exists and should be disclosed.  There needs to be some trigger to cause a reasonable attorney or applicant to understand that information needs to be investigated for possible materiality.  Individuals are not presumed to know the content of the prior art; knowledge of the existence and materiality of a particular item of prior art must be proved by clear and convincing evidence.
	28. In the pleadings Defendant Google asserts that the applicant committed inequitable conduct during the prosecution of the Geller patent because the applicant deliberately concealed from the Examiner the following allegedly material information:
	(a) U.S. Pat. No. 5,696,963 to Ahn issued December 9, 1997, (the “Ahn patent”);
	(b) U.S. Pat. No. 5,761,662 to Dasan issued June 2, 1998, (the “Dasan patent”);
	(c) U.S. Pat. No. 5,778,380 to Siefert issued July 7, 1998, (the “Siefert patent”).


	ALLEGATIONS OF INEQUITABLE CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF THE GELLER PATENT
	Materiality
	29. Patent practitioners recognize that for Defendants to establish their defense of inequitable conduct to their acts of accused infringement, Defendants are required to prove by clear and convincing evidence that each of the three references allegedly withheld was known to exist by persons having a duty under Rule 56 during the prosecution of the Geller patent, that these withheld references were material to the prosecution for the Geller patent, that these references were known by the Rule 56 persons to be material to the prosecution of the Geller patent, and that the three references were withheld by the Rule 56 persons with a specific intent to deceive the Examiner into allowing claims of the Geller patent.  The intent to deceive the Examiner must be the single most reasonable inference from a consideration of the evidence.
	30. On January 20, 2000, the applicant filed the PCT application that claimed priority to the ‘286 application.
	31. On March 12, 2000, the Examiner of the PCT application prepared an International Search Report in which he identified three patents that he believed were of particular relevance to the patentability of the claims of the PCT application.  Those patents, when combined with one or more of the others, were believed at that time by the PCT Examiner to render the claimed invention obvious.
	32. On April 12, 2000, the International Search Report prima facie was mailed to Mr. Edward Etkin, the patent attorney who prosecuted the application for the Geller patent.  Mr. Etkin did not disclose to the USPTO in connection with the prosecution of the Geller patent the International Search Report or the three patents identified therein.  Defendants assert that the withholding of the International Search Report and the three patents identified therein was the withholding of known material information that was done with the intent to deceive the USPTO. 
	33. As an initial matter, Defendants have not satisfied the standard for pleading allegations that known material information was deliberately concealed from the Examiner during the prosecution of the Geller patent with an intent to deceive the Examiner into allowing the claims.  Defendants, in their pleadings have failed to present explicit rather than implied expressions of the circumstances constituting the alleged inequitable conduct.  There are not adequate particularized factual bases for the defense.  The pleadings fail to identify the “what” and “how” of the intent to deceive.  In the instance of the allegations that a reference was withheld, the particular claim and limitations to which that reference is relevant have not been stated.  Defendants in their pleadings have failed to include where in a reference the material information was to be found.  Defendants in their pleadings have failed in the instance of an allegedly withheld reference to include the particular claim limitation (or combination) alleged to be missing from the references in front of the Examiner.  Defendants in their pleadings have failed to set forth why each allegedly withheld reference is not cumulative (and thus material) to the art that was of record as well as how an Examiner would have used that reference to evaluate the claims.  Defendants in their pleadings have failed to set forth the underlying facts from which a court may reasonably infer that a particular person acted with the state of mind necessary for inequitable conduct. 
	34. Defendants have proffered the expert report of Gerald J. Mossinghoff in support of its allegations of inequitable conduct.  Mr. Mossinghoff opines that two of the three references cited in the PCT search report are material.  Mossinghoff report at ¶ 18.  In particular, Mossinghoff opines that:
	Id (emphasis added). 
	35. Mr. Mossinghoff relies in part on the December 30, 2009, expert report of Stanley Peters issued in this litigation.  Mr. Peters opines that the prior art cited in the Geller patent prosecution when taken in combination with the Dasan and Siefert patents, renders obvious the Geller patent.  On this basis, Mr. Peters then concludes that that Dasan and Siefert patents are material.
	36. Prima facie, Mr. Mossinghoff fails to submit evidence or argument that the Ahn patent cited in the PCT report is material.  If information is not material, then the failure to cite the information to the USPTO is not a violation of Rule 56.  Inasmuch as Defendants appear to not consider the Ahn reference material, I will not address it in this report.  At such time as Mr. Mossinghoff presents evidence of the materiality of the Ahn reference, I will undertake to timely supplement this report. 
	37. I respectfully disagree with Mr. Mossinghoff’s opinion that “the prior art [of record] does not … discuss the use of user profiles.”  (Emphasis added.)
	38. The Examiner during the prosecution of the Geller patent cited, inter alia, U.S. Patent No. 6,081,750, to Hoffberg et al. (“the Hoffberg reference”, or “the ‘750 patent”).  The Hoffberg reference discloses a “User Profile” for example as element 1702 in Figure 17 (“…a stored profile of the identified user …” [col. 54, lines 20-21 (emphasis added)]); a “Past User History” as element 2107 in Figure 21; a “User History Database & Preferences” as element 2406 in Figure 24.
	39. The Hoffberg reference further discusses in relevant part, for example:
	The ‘750 patent, col. 34, lines 49-59 (emphasis added).
	The ‘750 patent, col. 35, lines 4-8.
	40. Prima facie, the repeated discussion in the ‘750 patent of a “user profile” and of the related “past user history” and “user history database and preferences” directly conflicts with the Mossinghoff opinion: “The prior art does not … discuss the use of user profiles… .  The Dasan and Siefert patents disclose the use of user profiles.  Therefore, they are material pieces of prior art.”  Mossinghoff report at ¶ 18.   
	41. In respect of the Dasan and Siefert patents, I reviewed the prosecution history of the Geller patent and reviewed the Dasan and Siefert patents in relation to the prior art of record in the Geller patent and the claims that were considered by the Examiner.  The Dasan and Siefert patents appear merely cumulative to information that was considered by the Examiner in the prosecution of the Geller patent.  My opinions in respect of the materiality of these references are informed by the opinions of PA’s technical expert, Thomas Rhyne.  Mr. Rhyne is of the opinion that the Dasan and Siefert patents are merely cumulative to information that was considered by the Examiner in the prosecution of the Geller patent.  
	42. The “user profile” allegedly taught by the Dasan and Siefert patents is, in fact, taught by the Hoffberg patent that was of record and considered by the Examiner in the prosecution of the Geller patent.  Hence, in respect of this feature, the Dasan and Siefert patents are merely cumulative of the prior art considered by the Examiner in the prosecution of the Geller patent.  Information that is merely cumulative of information already of record in an application is not material for purposes of determining whether there occurred a violation of Rule 56 or inequitable conduct.
	43. In further support of and consistent with Mr. Rhyne’s opinion that the Dasan and Siefert patents are not material to the prosecution of the Geller patent is the prosecution history of the PCT application.  In the International Preliminary Examination Report dated October 9, 2000, the PCT Examiner issued a report stating the following: 
	This report was issued after consideration of the Ahn, Dasan, and Siefert patents identified in the International Search Report mailed April 12, 2000.  It is noteworthy that the authorized officer who issued the International Search Report was Kim Yen Vu.  This is the same authorized officer who issued the International Preliminary Examination Report completed October 9, 2000.  Prima facie, the authorized officer in charge of the examination of the PCT application between April 12, 2000, and October 9, 2000, revisited, reconsidered, and withdrew the earlier question of patentability of the claims of the PCT application on the basis of the Ahn, Dasan, and Siefert patents.
	44. Mr. Mossinghoff also was of the opinion that the prior art of record in the prosecution of the Geller patent “does not … discuss retrieving search results that reflect a user’s social, cultural, educational, economic background or psychological profile.”  Mr. Mossinghoff’s report is not explicit in respect to whether he holds the opinion that the allegedly withheld prior art Ahn, Dasan and Siefert patents individually or collectively disclose “retrieving search results that reflect a user’s social, cultural, educational, economic background or psychological profile.”  At such time as Mr. Mossinghoff opines definitively on this subject, I reserve the right to supplement this report.  
	45. In the meantime, I do not observe in the prior art Ahn, Dasan and Siefert patents individually or collectively the disclosure of “retrieving search results that reflect a user’s social, cultural, educational, economic background or psychological profile” to any greater extent than the disclosure of the Hoffberg reference. 
	46. At this stage in this litigation, after an accusation of inequitable conduct has been made against the inventor and/or the patent attorney prosecuting the applications, the question is not whether another patent attorney would have disclosed the information regardless of its materiality, but rather whether the information is in fact material.  If the information is cumulative to information already of record, then the information is not material.  Simply because a patent attorney testifies after the fact that he/she would have disclosed certain information during prosecution, information that is less pertinent than that which was considered by the Examiner is not converted into material information.  


	Intent to Deceive the Examiner
	47. As noted above, intent is a question of fact.  An actual finding of intent to deceive is necessary for inequitable conduct to exist.  Alleged misconduct that amounts merely to the improper performance of, or omission of, some act an individual ought to have performed, does not constitute the requisite intent to deceive.  Clear and convincing evidence must prove that an individual had a specific intent to mislead or deceive the USPTO.  The intent to deceive the Examiner must be the single most reasonable inference from a consideration of the evidence.  I have not seen any credible evidence of any intent to deceive the Examiners on the part of any Rule 56 person in connection with the prosecution of the Geller patent.  
	48. A Rule 56 person cannot disclose what he does not know.  The record in this case evidences that no Rule 56 person withheld any material information known to him.  
	49.   In general, there is no duty to conduct a search of the prior art to learn of information that an individual might or could have been aware.  Even where a search has been conducted, an applicant is not obligated to disclose those search results where the search fails to turn up prior art as close as that cited by the Examiner.  Individuals are not required to pursue a fishing expedition to obtain information.  
	50. An applicant’s favorable actions should be taken into account in considering the issue of inequitable conduct.  These actions of the applicant show good faith in fulfilling the duty of disclosure.  Material prior art to the extent it was known to the applicant or his attorney was disclosed to the USPTO.  Prior art was introduced into the Background of the Invention section of the specification for the Geller patent.  See, e.g., the Geller patent, col. 2, lines 44 et seq.
	51. Attorneys who prosecute patent applications before the USPTO recognize and understand the duty of candor and its importance and take the duty seriously.  It is very important that parties and attorneys in litigation exercise sound judgment and due care before they accuse attorneys, inventors, and parties with a violation of this duty and fraud or inequitable conduct.  Reckless and unfounded charges have no place in our adversary system of justice.  Any charge of inequitable conduct, including each of its elements of materiality and intent, must be proven by clear and convincing evidence sometimes referred to as “unequivocal” proof.  The Federal Circuit has taken note on a number of occasions of its concern at the alarming number of knee jerk fraud and inequitable conduct charges and criticized attorneys working for accused infringers for not being more selective and applying a higher threshold before making these charges.  Despite the low likelihood that both the attorney and the inventor, jointly or separately, sought to mislead and defraud the USPTO, or that there would be clear and convincing evidence of such in the case of the Geller patent, Defendants allege that there was inequitable conduct committed.  Defendants in my opinion have apparently applied a very low threshold, ignored the heightened pleading standard, and ignored the clear and convincing evidence requirement.  In sum, Defendants claim that the Geller patent was inequitably obtained, and that the people involved committed inequitable conduct, without even approaching the level of detail required to sufficiently plead a claim of inequitable conduct, let alone establish it by clear and convincing evidence.
	52. As a result of overzealous claims of inequitable conduct, the Federal Circuit has gone out of its way to remark that supposed fraud in the USPTO has been overplayed and is “cluttering up” the patent system.”  Kimberly-Clark Corp. v. Johnson & Johnson, 745 F.2d 1437, 1454 (Fed. Cir. 1984).  The Court also has referred to such charges as “much-abused and too often a last-resort allegation.”  Preemption Devices Inc. v. Minn. Mining & Mfg. Co., 732 F.2d 903, 908 (Fed. Cir. 1984).  To put this concern in perspective, consider the following statement by the Federal Circuit in Burlington Industries, Inc. v. Dayco Corp., 849 F.2d 1418, 1422 (Fed. Cir. 1988):
	53. Patent attorney Edward Etkin who is accused in this case of inequitable conduct by Defendants is experienced in preparing and prosecuting patent applications before the USPTO.  Mr. Etkin was registered as a patent agent March 18, 1994, and was registered as a patent attorney February 23, 2004.  Mr. Etkin’s livelihood and reputation as registered patent agent and registered patent attorney are based on his ability to represent clients before the USPTO and on his ability to prosecute and obtain worthwhile and enforceable patents for his clients.  
	54. I have seen no evidence that would lead one to believe that attorney Edward Etkin, or anyone acting in concert with him, intended to deceive the USPTO.  
	55. Mr. Etkin testified that prior to his deposition of April 23, 2009, he had never seen the documents mailed by the PCT Examiner.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 80-82; 151-53.  Mr. Etkin was cognizant of his duty to disclose material prior art of which he had knowledge.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 82.
	56. Mr. Etkin testified that as of a few months after the PCT application was filed, he still had not been paid for the filing, and he advised his client regarding the still further additional cost of going into the national phase.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 224;  248.  Mr. Etkin kept a separate file for the Geller patent prosecution from the file for the PCT application.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 251-54.  
	57. After not being paid for the PCT application, Mr. Etkin stopped work on it, and the file was marked Inactive.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 248-49.  Mr. Etkin’s practice was to not look at any correspondence for files marked Inactive.  Id.  In Mr. Etkin’s practice, the correspondence received in respect of Inactive files is placed in the file by Mr. Etkin’s assistant and “that’s it”.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 248-50.  Mr. Etkin testified: “If we received [the allegedly withheld communications from the PCT], that’s most likely what happened with this.”  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 250.  Mr. Etkin testified that this was the most likely explanation of why he did not ever see the allegedly withheld communications from the PCT.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 250-51.
	58. Mr. Etkin testified that he would not have blindly submitted prior art to the Examiner in charge of the Geller without making an independent determination of the materiality of the prior art.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 84-85.  As noted, the application for the Geller patent was filed in October 1999 and continued until the patent issued March 6, 2001.
	59. In October 1997, the USPTO imposed on attorney and agent practitioners a duty to make reasonable inquiry.  Changes to Patent Practice and Procedure, Part III,  62 FR 53132.  See also 37 CFR 10.18.  As of that date it became known to patent practitioners that by presenting to the USPTO any paper, the party presenting such paper is certifying that to the best of the party’s knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances, the paper is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of prosecution before the USPTO.  37 CFR 10.18(b)(2)(i).  Although today patent practitioners perceive relatively minimal risk in transmitting prior art to the Examiner without reviewing the same, at the time of the prosecution of the Geller patent, practitioners assumed a risk in not actually reviewing all the prior art being characterized to the USPTO in an Information Disclosure Statement (“IDS”).  Failure to review prior art being submitted in an IDS could implicate not only 37 CFR 10.18 but also Section 10.23(b) and (c) and Section 10.77(b). 
	60. Mr. Etkin perhaps did not engage in a practice performed by some practitioners of routinely reviewing and then forwarding all material foreign search reports and/or references cited and/or office actions to the USPTO in counterpart applications.  The failure to review, consider, and then forward material foreign search reports and/or references cited and/or office actions to the USPTO may have been a departure from recommended practices of the USPTO, but that alone does not establish an intent to deceive the Examiner.  
	61. Based on this record the most likely explanation for Mr. Etkin’s failure to even discover the allegedly withheld prior art from the PCT was that since he had stopped work on the PCT file, he would not have seen – and, indeed, did not see – the correspondence associated with that file.  See, e.g., Etkin Depo. at 248-49.  
	62. The single most reasonable inference from the evidence is that there was no inequitable conduct committed in the prosecution of the Geller patent.  



	 EXHIBIT A  CV of ALAN H. GORDON
	 EXHIBIT B  EXPERT TESTIMONY
	 EXHIBIT C  DOCUMENTS REVIEWED
	 EXHIBIT D  NATURE AND PURPOSE OF PATENTS
	1. The Constitution of the United States gives Congress the power to enact laws relating to patents in Article 1, Section 8, which reads:  “Congress shall have the power . . . to promote the progress of science and useful arts, by securing for limited times to authors and inventors the exclusive right to their respective writings and discoveries.”  Under this power Congress has from time to time enacted various laws relating to patents.  The first patent law was enacted in 1790.  The law now in effect was enacted in July of 1952, but has been revised since then from time to time.  It is codified in Title 35 of the United States Code.
	2. The patent law specifies the subject matter for which a patent may be obtained and the conditions for patentability.  The law establishes the USPTO relating to the granting of patents, and contains various other provisions relating to patents as addressed herein.
	3. The USPTO is an Agency of the United States Department of Commerce.  The role of the USPTO is to grant patents for the protection of inventions and to register trademarks.  The USPTO serves the interests of inventors and businesses with respect to their inventions and corporate product and service identifications.
	How Patents Are Obtained
	4. At trial, I may testify regarding the various parts of patents and the process through which patents are obtained.  What follows is intended only as a summary of the relevant practices, procedures, and standards.  
	5. In discharging its patent related duties, the USPTO, in accordance with the practices, procedures, and standards addressed herein, examines applications and grants patents on inventions when applicants are duly determined to be entitled to them.  The USPTO publishes and disseminates patent information, records assignments of patents, maintains search files of U.S. and foreign patents, and maintains a search room for public use in examining issued patents and records.  The USPTO supplies copies of patents and official records to the public.


	Application for Patent
	6. A non-provisional application for a patent is made to the Assistant Commissioner for Patents and includes:
	a. A written document which comprises a specification (description) and claims, and an oath or declaration;
	b. A drawing in those cases in which a drawing is necessary; and
	c. The filing fee.
	d. The application for patent is not forwarded for examination until all the required parts,  complying with the rules relating thereto, are received.  If any application is filed without all the required parts for obtaining a filing date (incomplete or defective), the applicant will be notified of the deficiencies and given a time period to complete the application filing (a surcharge may be required) – at which time a filing date as to the date of such a completed submission will be obtained by the applicant.  If the omission is not corrected within a set, specified time period, the application will be returned or otherwise disposed of; the filing fee if submitted will be refunded less a handling fee.
	e. All applications received in the USPTO are numbered in serial order, and the applicant will be informed of the application’s serial number and filing date by a filing receipt.  The filing date of an application for a patent is the date on which the names of the inventors, a specification (including claims) and any required drawings are received in the USPTO; or the date on which the last part completing the application is received in the case of a previously incomplete or defective application.



	Oath or Declaration, Signature
	7. The oath or declaration of the applicant is required by law for a non-provisional application.  The inventor must make an oath or declaration that he/she believes himself/herself to be the original and first inventor of the subject matter of the application, and he/she must make various other allegations required by law and various allegations required by the USPTO rules.  A declaration does not need to be notarized.

	Specification (Description and Claims)
	8. The specification must include a written description of the invention and of the manner and process of making and using it, and is required to be in such full, clear, concise, and exact terms as to enable any person skilled in the technological area to which the invention pertains, or with which it is most nearly connected, to make and use the invention.  35 U.S.C. §112.
	9. The specification must describe the invention for which a patent is sought, in such manner as to distinguish it from other inventions and from what is old.  It must describe completely one or more specific embodiments of the process, machine, manufacture, composition of matter, or improvement invented, and must explain the mode of operation or principle whenever applicable.  The best mode contemplated by the inventor for carrying out the invention must be set forth.
	10. In the case of an improvement, the specification must particularly point out the part or parts of the process, machine, manufacture, or composition of matter to which the improvement relates, and the description should be confined to the specific improvement and to such parts as necessarily cooperate with it or as may be necessary to a complete understanding or description of it.
	11. The title of the invention, which should be as short and specific as possible, should appear as a heading on the first page of the specification, if it does not otherwise appear at the beginning of the application.
	12. A brief abstract of the technical disclosure in the specification including that which is new in the art to which the invention pertains, must be set forth on a separate page immediately following the claims.
	13. A brief summary of the invention indicating its nature and substance, which may include a statement of the object of the invention, should precede the detailed description.
	14. When there are drawings, there must be a brief description of the several views of the drawings.
	15. The specification must conclude with a claim or claims particularly pointing out and distinctly claiming the subject matter which the applicant regards as the invention.  The portion of the application in which the applicant sets forth the claim or claims is an important part of the application because the claims define the scope of the protection afforded by the patent and which questions of infringement are judged by the Courts.  More than one claim may be presented provided they differ substantially from each other and are not unduly multiplied.  One or more claims may be presented in dependent form, referring back to and further limiting another claim or claims in the same application.  Any dependent claim which refers back to more than one other claim is considered a “multiple dependent claim.”
	16. In some inventions, there are two or more alternative and mutually exclusive embodiments of the invention, that is, where two or more different structures, steps, parts, or compounds, called “species,” may be used interchangeably to accomplish a desired result.  A “generic” claim is one that defines the element in question with sufficient breadth to cover all of the species described and often also covers additional undisclosed species.  The species claims cover the separate embodiments one at a time.  There may be subgeneric claims that cover some, but not all, of the species.  If no allowable generic claim is presented, then a requirement for “restriction” among disclosed species is likely, called “election of species.”  After election, all claims directed to a particular species are examined.  The ones not elected are not examined, but they may be made the subject(s) of divisional applications.  


	Drawing
	17. The applicant for a patent will be required by law to furnish a drawing of the invention whenever the nature of the case requires a drawing to understand the invention.  However, the Commissioner of Patents may require a drawing where the nature of the subject matter admits of it, and this drawing must be filed with the application.  This includes practically all inventions except compositions of matter or processes, but a drawing may also be useful in the case of many processes.

	Examination of Applications and Proceedings in the USPTO
	18. Applications will not be advanced out of turn for examination or for further action except as provided by the rules, or upon order of the Commissioner to expedite the business of the USPTO, or upon a verified showing which, in the opinion of the Commissioner, will justify advancing them.
	19. The examination of an application consists of a study of the application for compliance with the legal requirements and a search through United States patents, some foreign patent documents, and available literature, to determine whether the claimed invention is new and non-obvious.  A decision is reached by the Examiner in light of the study and the result of the search.


	Office Action
	20. The applicant is notified in writing of the Examiner’s decision by an “action” which is normally mailed to the attorney or agent of record.  The reasons for any adverse action or any objections or requirements are stated in the action, and such information or references are given as may be useful in aiding the applicant to judge the propriety of continuing the prosecution of his or her application.
	21. If the Examiner finds the claimed invention lacks novelty or differs only in an obvious manner from what is found in the prior art, the claims are rejected.  It is not uncommon for some or all of the claims to be rejected on the first office action by the Examiner, and relatively few applications are allowed as filed.


	Applicant’s Response
	22. The applicant must request reconsideration in writing and must distinctly and specifically point out the supposed error in the Examiner’s action.  In amending an application and response to a rejection, the applicant must clearly state why he/she thinks the amended claims are patentable in view of the state of the art disclosed by the prior references cited for the rejections made.  He/she must also show how the claims as amended avoid such prior art references or rejections.
	23. After response by the applicant, the application will be reconsidered, and the applicant will be notified as to the status of the claims, that is, whether the claims are rejected, or objected to, or whether the claims are allowed, in the same manner as after the first examination.  The second office action usually will be made “final.”


	Final Rejection
	24. On the second or later consideration, the rejection or other action may be made “final.”  The applicant’s response is then limited to appeal the rejection of any claim, and further amendment is restricted.  Petition may be taken to the Commissioner in the case of objections or requirements not involved in the rejection of any claim.  Response to a final rejection or action must include cancellation, or appeal from the rejection, of each claim so rejected  and, if any claim stands allowed, compliance with any requirement or objection as to form.
	25. In making such final rejection, the Examiner repeats or states all grounds of rejection then considered applicable to the claims in the application.


	Amendments to Application
	26. The applicant may amend before or after the first examination and action as specified in the rules or when and as specifically required by the Examiner.
	27. After final rejection or action, amendments may be made canceling claims or complying with any requirements of form which have been made, but the admission of any such amendment or its refusal in any preceding relative thereto, shall not operate to relieve the application from its condition as subject to appeal or save it from abandonment.  If amendments touching the merits of the application are presented after final rejection, or after appeal has been taken, or when such amendment might not otherwise be proper, they may be admitted upon a showing of good and sufficient reasons why they are necessary and were not earlier presented.
	28. The specification, claims, and drawing must be amended and revised when required, to correct inaccuracies of description and definition or unnecessary words, and to secure correspondence between the claims, the description, and the drawing.
	29. All amendments of the drawing or specifications, and all additions thereto must not include new matter beyond the original disclosure.  Matter not found in either, involving a departure from or an addition to the original disclosure, cannot be added to the application even though supplemented by a supplemental oath or declaration.  New matter can be shown or claimed only in a separate application.
	30. The claims may be amended by canceling particular claims, by presenting new claims, or by amending the language of particular claims (such amended claims being in effect new claims).  Amendments are made by filing a paper directing or requesting that specific changes or additions be made.  The exact word or words to be stricken out or inserted in the application must be specified, and the precise point indicated where the deletion or insertion is to be made.
	31. Amendments are “entered” by the USPTO by making the proposed deletions, by drawing a line in red ink through the word or words cancelled, and by making the proposed substitutions or insertions in red ink.  Small insertions are written in at the designated place, and larger insertions are indicated by reference.
	32. If the number or nature of the amendments render it difficult to consider the case, or to arrange the papers for printing or copying, the Examiner may require the entire specification or claims, or any part thereof, to be rewritten.
	33. The original numbering of the claims must be preserved throughout the prosecution.  When claims are cancelled, the remaining claims must not be renumbered.  When claims are added by amendment or substituted for cancelled claims, they must be numbered by the applicant consecutively beginning with the number next following the highest numbered claim previously presented.  When the application is ready for allowance, the Examiner, if necessary, will renumber the claims consecutively in the order in which they appear or in such order as may have been requested by applicant.


	Continuation Applications
	34. A non-provisional patent application may claim an invention disclosed in a prior filed co-pending, non-provisional application provided there is at least one named inventor from the first application named in the later application, and provided the named inventor’s invention is claimed in at least one claim in the later filed application.  The second application is a continuing application, sometimes referred to more specifically as a “continuation” application, and requires a new filing fee and must be separately prosecuted as a distinct application.  The life of any patent issuing from the second filed application will be measured from the effective filing date (the filing date of the first application).  A continuation application is sometimes filed when the earlier application receives a final rejection and the applicant and the Examiner have not yet come to agreement regarding patentability of pending claims.  Inasmuch as the Examiner is not required to examine the application after final rejection, a new application (with a new filing fee) is required to continue prosecution of the claims directed to the same invention.  A continuation-in-part (or “CIP”) application is filed during the lifetime of an earlier non-provisional application, repeating some substantial portion or all of the non-provisional application and adding matter not disclosed in the earlier non-provisional application.
	35. Subsequent continuing applications (called “divisional” applications) may also be filed to seek patent coverage for the inventions not prosecuted – but disclosed -- in the earlier application.


	Allowance and Issuance of Patent
	36. If, on examination of the application, or at a later stage during the reconsideration of the application, one or more pending claims of the patent application are found to be allowable, a notice of allowance will be sent to the applicant or to applicant’s attorney or agent of record, if any, and a fee for issuing the patent is due within three (3) months from the date of the notice.  If timely payment of the issue fee is not made, the application will be regarded as abandoned.  
	37. When the issue fee is paid, the patent issues as soon as possible after the date of payment, dependent upon the volume of printing on hand.  The patent grant then is delivered or mailed on the day of its grant, or as soon thereafter as is possible, to the inventor’s attorney or agent if there is one of record, or otherwise directly to the inventor.  On the date of the grant the patent file becomes open to the public.  Copies of the specification and drawing are available on the same date.


	Novelty and Other Conditions for Obtaining a Patent
	38. I may further testify about the conditions that must be met before a patent can be obtained.  For example, for an invention to be patentable, it must be new and non-obvious.  
	39. Even if the subject matter sought to be patented is not exactly shown by the prior art, and involves one or more differences over the most nearly similar thing already known, a patent may still be refused if the differences would be obvious.  35 U.S.C. §103.  The subject matter sought to be patented must be sufficiently different from what has been used or described before that it may be said to be non-obvious to a person having ordinary skill in the area of technology related to the invention.


	Infringement – Literal and Under the Doctrine of Equivalents
	40. I may also testify about the procedures for assessing whether a patent is infringed, including how an entity placed on notice of a patent would properly determine whether it was infringing that patent.  What follows is only a summary of the relevant procedures and standards.
	41.   Proving infringement is a two-step process.  First, a claim is construed without regard to the accused product.  Second, the claim is compared to the accused product, to determine whether all of the limitations of the claim are present literally or by a substantial equivalent.  The burden is on a patent holder to prove infringement by a preponderance of the evidence.
	42. Proving infringement requires determining whether the claims at issue encompass or “read on” the accused product.  The essential test is:  Does the accused product contain elements identical or equivalent to each claimed element of the patented invention?
	43. Under the all elements rule, every element of the claim, or its equivalent, must be found in the accused product.  The relevant comparison is between the patent claim and the accused product.  In carrying out this analysis, it is improper to compare the accused product with anything other than a patent claim.  Thus, it is incorrect to compare the accused product with the patent owner’s product.  It is also improper to compare the accused product with the patent drawings or a portion of the specification, out of the context of the claims.
	44. Thus, to prove infringement, the patent holder must show that each limitation of the claim is found in the accused product, either literally or by an equivalent component.  If a claimed element is not literally found in the accused product, the patent holder may invoke the “doctrine of equivalents” (“DOE”) to prove infringement.
	45. The test of equivalency may be worded in several ways, including:  (i) whether the differences between the claimed element and accused product are insubstantial, assessed according to an objective standard; or (ii) whether an element of the accused product (a) performs exactly or substantially the same function, (b) in exactly or substantially the same way, (c) to achieve exactly or substantially the same result as the element of the claimed apparatus.
	46. Prosecution file history estoppel (“PFHE”) will exclude from the DOE any subject matter that was unequivocally disclaimed by amendment or argument during prosecution.






